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1. Company introduction  

 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. was founded as a family company in Banská Bystrica  

in 1996. Its founder and current majority shareholder is an aeronautical engineer  

Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan, originally Armenian, who built the company "on a green field". 

GEVORKYAN, Inc. builds on the experience of two generations of the family  

in the field of powder metallurgy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Today, it is a leader in powder metallurgy within Europe and one of the most innovative companies 

in this sector worldwide. The company is a manufacturer of various types of components using 

powder metallurgy (PM) and metal injection moulding (MIM) technologies for the automotive, 

petroleum, cosmetics and agricultural industries, hand tools, locks and security systems, 

healthcare, air-conditioning and defence industries. The company does not have a branch abroad.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Metal parts, manufactured in GEVORKYAN, a.s. 

1977 - Robert Gevorkyan starts a powder metallurgy plant in the Urals 
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GEVORKYAN, a.s. is the holder of many prestigious Slovak and international awards, such as: 

 

"Diamonds of Slovak Business" in the category of the most dynamically growing company 

in 2012, 2013, 2020 and 2021.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exceptional Company 2020" TÜV SÜD awarded GEVORKYAN, a.s. Certificate of Excellence for its 

contribution in promoting innovation. 
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The company was awarded a special prize from the Industrial Property Office for the development 

of its unique Covid-19 masks. 

 

 

In 2018, GEVORKYAN, a.s. received the highest award from the European Powder Metallurgy 

Association (EPMA) during the international trade fair in the Netherlands: the absolute victory in 

the "EPMA Component Awards 2018 - Structural Parts Category", which focuses on the most 

innovative solutions in the field of powder metallurgy with a significant contribution to cost savings, 

quality improvement, encouragement to further use of PM, uniqueness, originality and new ideas.  
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Ranking among the "TOP 10 companies of the Banská Bystrica region" for 2016 and 2018. The 

ranking is announced annually by Hospodársky noviny, in cooperation with UniCredit Bank and 

sponsor Deloitte. 

The company continues to focus on development. In 2022, approximately 10% of the total 

workforce was working on the development of new technologies and products for customers 

around the world. The work of the development department results in unique solutions for which 

the company regularly receives international awards. 

Among other things, GEVORKYAN, a.s. distinguishes itself from other manufacturing companies by 

a higher proportion of employees with higher education - up to one third of employees have 

achieved an engineering or master's degree, while 8 of them have achieved a doctorate degree 

(PhD.) 

"Fachmetall QM Context Award", which the company received during the trade fair of the 

specialized  

powder metallurgy in the Swiss city of Basel, where it was the winner of the competition in the 
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"Quality" category. GEVORKYAN, a.s. was the only company from the EU and the first company in 

the history of powder metallurgy to be awarded this prize. 

 

"National Champion, National Public Champion" and "Ruban´d Honneur" in the European Business 

Awards 2016/2017, which for ten years has focused on the most innovative companies on the old 

continent by promoting their success, innovation and ethics. The main sponsor is RSM 

International, the sixth largest network of independent audit, tax and advisory firms in the world. 

 

 

 

 

"Factory of the Year" by the Fraunhover Institute and EXIM Bank Slovakia for a progressive business 

model. 
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The activities of GEVORKYAN, a.s. and its activities are available on the website www.gevorkyan.sk, 

section About us - Awards.  

The company is a member of the European (EPMA) and International (APMI) Powder Metallurgy 

Associations. It has a state-of-the-art laboratory and development centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Laboratory - automatic hardness tester              Part of the R&D department in the analysis of new projects 

  

 

In recent years, the company has successfully passed several customer audits and has become a 

global supplier to large multinational companies operating manufacturing plants around the world. 

In 2020, the company successfully passed the IATF 16949 re-qualification audit, which is 

considered the most stringent audit within the automotive industry. The standard that governs the 
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company is issued by TÜV SÜD and focuses on the development of a quality management system 

with an emphasis on continuous improvement, as well as on the prevention of defects in the supply 

chain.  

In order to secure long-term growth in 2016, a decision was taken to accept funding from the 

investor companies Jeremie Co-Investment Fund, represented by Limerock Fund Manager, and 

BHS Fund II - Private Equity, in the form of mezzanine financing with a six-year maturity. Each of 

these companies acquired a 3.5% interest in GEVORKYAN, Inc. in 2016 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. is the first Slovak SME company to issue public bonds on the Bratislava Stock 

Exchange. Securities issued by the company do not have limited transferability. 

The financial statements for 2022 were audited by Ernst & Young Slovakia, spol. s r.o., license SKAU 

No. 257. 

In March 2019, GEVORKYAN, a.s. successfully issued bonds worth € 10 million. The bonds were 

publicly traded on the Prague Stock Exchange. Their purpose was to repay an expensive mezzanine 

loan and at the same time to finance the approved Euro Funds. By repaying the expensive 

mezzanine loan, the company was able to save €1,000 per day in interest costs, which amounts to 

€388,600 per year. The bond funds were also used to expand additive manufacturing (3D printing).  

On 16.11.2021 the related company GEVORKYAN CZ, s.r.o. successfully issued bonds worth € 30 

million, which are publicly traded on the Prague Stock Exchange and the funds were provided to 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. in the form of a loan.  

In 2014, the company employed 190 employees and generated sales of approximately EUR 17 

million. Over the next 8 years, thanks mainly to the aforementioned automation, the company has 

managed to streamline production and reduce jobs, especially those with lower added value. In 

2022, the company achieved sales of almost 60 million euros with an even lower number of 

employees: 172. 

 

In addition, the company has completed a several-year-long land purchase necessary for the 

construction and approval of its own substation, with a connection to a remote high-voltage line 

and a separate connection to a high-pressure natural gas distribution system. Such energy isolation 

from the rest of the industrial park brings annual savings of about 240 000 €. In addition, the 

possibility of direct consumption (without intermediaries) of electricity and gas allowed the 

company to conclude long-term contracts for the years 2022-2023, which eliminated the risk of 

rapid price increases in connection with the energy crisis. In 2020, the company started a project 

to build its own nitrogen generator. Upon successful completion of the project in the second half 

of 2022, the company expects savings of €100,000 per year. 
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Own nitrogen generator 

 

In 2021, a project for the construction of a new production hall was developed and approved by 

the relevant authorities. The production hall was approved in November 2022. At the same time, 

the unloading and subsequent installation of the Gasbarre calibration presses (220t CNC 

calibration presses), which are currently installed and fully operational in the extension of the 

production hall, took place during this period. Officially, the production hall extension is called the 

"calibration section". 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 GEVORKYAN, a.s. team after successful installation  Addition to the production hall - approval 11/2022 

Gasbarre calibration presses 
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In the second half of 2022, the company received the largest press (300 tonnes), which took a 

whole day to unload and required the roof of the production hall to be opened and a special crane 

to be used to position it. The press was then successfully installed in the production hall and is now 

fully operational.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SACMI 300t press unloader (left), press after successful installation (right) 

 

As the value added in the powder metallurgy sector is relatively high, the company plans to use it 

primarily to reduce the debt-to-earnings ratio (NLD/EBITDA). Two successful refinancing 

operations have already been carried out in the previous years in order to reduce financing costs: 

- in 2018 - BHS bond of 220 million CZK CZK 220 and a cost of 13.5% p.a., with a saving on 

financing costs of more than €1,500/day (approx. €537,500/year); 

- in 2019 - a mezzanine loan of €6.7 million at a cost of 10.5% p.a., saving almost €1,000/day 

(approx. €388,600/year) in financing costs.  

In total, savings in financial costs of approximately € 926 100/year were achieved. Due to the large 

one-off fees for new issues and early repayment penalties on the original more expensive debt, 

the savings only started to show up in 2020.  

A few years ago, the company created its own automation and digitalisation centre to ensure long-

term competitiveness regardless of the expected rise in labour costs in Slovakia. The crisis in 2020 

has kick-started new investments in the company in a very similar style and strategy to the previous 

crisis in 2008. Investments were made in machinery to make production more efficient, to expand 

the portfolio, to absorb new orders that came in thanks to the crisis. Powder metallurgy is an 
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economically efficient production and in combination with the location of production in a 

technically advanced and affordable country such as Slovakia, it ensures the long-term stability of 

the company. 

 

In 2020-2022, special investments have been directed towards robotization to avoid the impact of 

a sharp increase in incapacitated (Covid-infected) operators. Robotic workstations, completely 

developed by our company, replace entire teams of operators and allow continuous operation to 

continue. A significant part of the investment goes into simulation software, information system, 

online communication, digitalization of all processes in the company so that the company can 

operate flexibly.  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2020, the company invested in the development and production of unique respirators/masks 

that have received several international awards. In addition, due to the lack of capacity in Slovakia, 

the company has invested in a unique laboratory that allows testing of all types of respirators, 

masks, filters, drapes, etc. Currently, it has expanded the range of protective masks produced with 

special applications for the forces, medical personnel, even masks as a fashion accessory. Thanks 

to the professional approach, the masks have been certified and registered with the SUKL (State 

Institute for Drug Control). These unique masks are also registered with the U.S. Food and Drug 

Administration for the American market and with the ICR of Poland 
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GEVORKYAN, a.s. has donated thousands of these unique masks to the Slovak Police Force, 

hospitals, nursing homes and the underprivileged. Especially at the beginning of the pandemic, 

when there was a shortage of OPP in Slovakia, GEVORKYAN, a.s. was able to provide this protection 

not only to its employees and their families, but also to thousands of people in Slovakia and abroad 

who desperately needed this protection. 

 

In the near future, the company plans to expand production as well as invest in the expansion of 

additive manufacturing (3D printing), which is already used in the three-shift operation in the 

development department. 

In May 2022, the legal form was changed to a joint stock company. In June 2022 GEVORKYAN, a.s., 

as the first foreign company, entered the START market of the Prague Stock Exchange. It received 

approximately €27.5 million from investors, which is being invested to expand production and 

increase capacity so that the company can serve more clients more quickly. This is the largest issue 

on the START market to date.  
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2. Structure of the shareholders and organs of the company  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The company has the following bodies - General Assembly, Board of Directors and Supervisory 

Board.  The sole member of the Board of Directors and its Chairman is Artur Gevorkyan. The 

members of the Supervisory Board are: Andrej Bátovský, Robert Gevorkyan and Denisa Kvasnová.  

The General Meeting of the Company was held on 30.12.2022 at the registered office of the 

Company at 504 Továrenská Street in Vlkanová. All information and documents related to the 

General Meeting are available on the Company's website in the Important Links - For Investors 

section.  

The company's strategy is determined and implemented by the company's majority shareholder 

Artur Gevorkyan, an aerospace engineer who has worked on the development of composite 

materials for military aviation.  

He is the owner of several patents and the holder of the know-how on which the company's 

development is based. His years of hard work to achieve his goal and his unusual entrepreneurial 

story have been rewarded  

in the finals of the "Entrepreneur of the Year" competitions 2011, 2012 and 2019. 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. is also a related party of GPM Tools, s.r.o. (Gevorkyan Powder Metallurgy Tools), 

which specializes in the production of moulds for powder metallurgy and is the only toolmaker in 

Central Europe in this field at all 
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3. Organisational structure and employment  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At the end of 2022, the company employed a total of 172 employees,  of whom worked in the 

development department. It provides attractive and stable jobs for skilled workers with relevant 

education. The company has a multinational team. The key managers have experience in different 

industries.  

 

Our main objective in the field of human resources management is the development and 

stabilisation of human capital. Through employee development and career growth opportunities, 

we increase employee motivation. Applying the principle of fair remuneration, preventing and 

avoiding discrimination is extremely important to us. 

As of December 31, 2022, the company had 172 employees, of which 114 were women and 58 

were men. Their average age was 38 years.  

The company guarantees every employee the rights arising from the employment relationship 

without any restrictions, in accordance with legal standards, including in the area of personal data 

protection. GEVORKYAN, a.s. creates equal conditions for self-realization of different groups of 

employees also in terms of gender and age, taking into account education, qualification and work 

experience. 

 

The exceptionally broad spectrum of the company's social programme covers the real needs of 

employees, from material assistance during long-term sick leave, maternity leave, to refinancing 

of accommodation costs, transport, contributions for recovery procedures, stays, etc. 

 

30% of employees with a university degree 
8 staff with PhD degrees  
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In 2022, a special programme continued to support young and talented employees, for whom the 

company reimburses university studies, education and various professional trainings and courses 

(foreign language training), and the provision of long-term loans (up to 30 years) for the purchase 

of an apartment, a house or the overhaul of an existing property.  

 

Great emphasis is placed on continuous training of employees. All engineers and designers attend 

international trade fairs, and in addition they attend annual training courses and technical training 

in powder metallurgy in various countries around the world. Experts from supplier companies are 

also invited to regularly organised in-house training sessions to present new developments in 

materials, production technology and machinery. 

 

Regular meetings with interesting personalities from the business environment, such as Ján 

Košturiak (INOVATO) or Ivo Toman, are an integral part of the company's operation. At the same 

time, the company's original principles are presented at trainings, conferences, meetings, seminars 

and international scientific conferences (e.g. Ministry of Foreign Affairs, IPA Slovakia, Happy Company, 

Management Live, ZMPS, TUZVO, etc.). 
 

The company cooperates with the Slovak Chamber of Commerce and Industry (SOPK) and the 

Austrian-Slovak Chamber of Commerce (DSIHK - Deutsch Slowakische Industrie-und 

Handelskammer) especially in organizing conferences and excursions focused on the company's 

technologies, whose guests are both foreign and Slovak entrepreneurs. Of course, the cooperation 

with the Technical University in Zvolen, University of Žilina and Matej Bel University is a matter of 

course, with which GEVORKYAN, a.s. plans to expand from excursions and lectures of Slovak and 

foreign students to supervising the final theses of students of the last years, who will solve real 

problems of production and development.  

 

Professional training and, above all, the practical application of acquired knowledge is crucial in 

society. The promotion of dual training is a natural part of the company's policy. On the basis of 

cooperation with the Technical University in Zvolen, students go through all departments, from 

development to production, where they verify their knowledge in practice. 
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Members of the INOVATO association at a workshop and a tour of the company's production hall 

 

The company was awarded the Inspirational Project label in the Via Bona Slovakia 2014 

competition, category "Great Employer". 

In 2016 it was awarded as "Healthy Company of the Year" by the health insurance company  

for its significant contribution to employee health care, and 2018 marked its 4th place in the 

Manufacturing Companies category in the next edition of this competition.  

 

 

 

The company also provides its employees with opportunities for leisure activities that are 

important in building a positive working environment and team, e.g. sports days  

for employees and their families, Christmas cabbage soup, traditional Hron River rafting, visits to 

shelters, orphanages and many others. 
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Comparison of the development of the number of employees and sales over the last almost 10 years, including 

forecasts for the next period 

 

4. Activities, visions and plans of GEVORKYAN, a.s.  
 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. has been operating on the market for 27 years and has been successfully meeting 

the expectations of its customers using its long experience in the field. The company is the owner 

of the know-how. The development department employs 18 engineers who develop about 150 

new products per year. It cooperates with the Slovak Academy of Sciences. It works on the 

development of new materials with research institutes in Sweden and Canada. Thanks to strong 

development, the company is expanding its customer portfolio by about 10 new customers per 

year. 

 

It is a development supplier for most of its customers. The vast majority of products are developed 

in-house. It is the sole supplier for almost 100% of its customers. It is regularly approached by 

customers interested in developing products that are not available on the market. In this way, it 

has achieved world uniqueness in products that no one else in the world has yet produced by 

powder metallurgy.       

Due to the uniqueness of the production processes and products offered, the company has 

established strong business contacts both on the material supply and sales side. 

Currently the company provides products to its customers in more than 30 countries around the 

world from Brazil, Mexico, USA, all over Europe to Israel, China and India. 

The company's products can be found in a variety of automobiles from Dacia to Mercedes, as well 

as in exclusive brands such as Porsche, Bentley; in branded cosmetics such as Versace, Hugo Boss; 

in hand tools for the general public and professionals such as Black & Decker, Bosch and Dewalt; 

in agricultural equipment such as John Deere, Deutz, Komatsu; in the oil and medical industry. The 

expansion into new markets and the significant diversification of production are evidenced by the 

contracts recently concluded with companies from various sectors 

In 2019, a separate 3D printing department was created. A new industry called Additive 

Manufacturing (AM), which is part of powder metallurgy, is currently in the spotlight. 

GEVORKYAN, Inc. believes that the time of intensive use of Additive Manufacturing (AM) 

technology is yet to come and will be used not only in the aerospace industry, medicine, but also 

in robotics. The company plans to develop this technology gradually. Currently GEVORKYAN, Inc. 

uses this technology mainly for the production of spare parts for very expensive machines, in 

order to eliminate the long waiting time for spare parts from the production of the machine, 

which normally takes several weeks.  
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In 2020, the company launched a new high-speed quenching line for mass production, which is 

specific in that it can quench special powder metallurgy composite materials. It is also unique that 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. cooperated on the development and production together with a German 

manufacturer. The result of the cooperation is a unique line for high-temperature hardening (up 

to 1050 °C) in the whole territory of the Czech Republic and Slovakia.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2022, the implementation of 27 robotic workstations in production was successfully completed. 

All of them are universal workstations that the company can move from machine to machine, even 

from one department to another, if necessary, which, in addition to significant savings in labor 

costs, also allows for greater flexibility in production. 
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Over the past period, the company has successfully passed customer audits from new automotive 

customers based in Europe and the USA, as well as from hand tool manufacturers in Japan and 

Germany. Cooperation with the Oil & Gas segment as well as with companies producing weapons 

and ammunition has been significantly expanded. This and much more helps to plan the company's 

strategy for the coming years and brings several years of concrete projects in the short term.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Strategy of GEVORKYAN, a. s.  
 

The company's strategy is based on ensuring the long-term growth and development of the 

company. It is formed where one technology is ending and another is not yet beginning - at the 

interface of different technologies. The company's uniqueness lies in the combination of powder 

metallurgy (PM), injection molding of metal composites MIM, high-temperature isostatic pressing 

HIP and additive manufacturing of 3D prints AM. These 4 technologies under one roof make 

GEVORKYAN, Inc. a European unique.  

 

The company's products are not strictly linked to one industry sector. Parts are supplied to 
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automotive, hand tools, locks and protection systems, cosmetic, medical, agricultural and 

petroleum industries.  

It is a flexible company that does not sell products, but solutions for customers.  

50% of the company's products have never before been produced by powder metallurgy 

technology anywhere in the world.  

The company passed a rigorous certification process in 2020 and is officially certified as a 

manufacturer of medical devices and HSE according to ISO 45001:2018. 

The total volume of projects priced for 2022 was nearly 47 million€ (annual revenue per project). 

Of this, confirmed orders from customers as well as start-up orders amounted to just under 9 

million € , accounting for 19.11% 

YEAR 2022 annual turnover in € 

TOTAL 46 770 230 € 
 

Retrieved from 8 935 551 € 19,11% 

We communicate 32 658 017 € 69,83% 

Unsuccessful 5 176 662 € 11,07% 

Objective of the implemented projects 6 000 000 € 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

List of customers whose projects were accepted in 2022 

Customers 

customer country sector/industry 

Zz1 Italy Construction machinery 

Zz2 Germany Security systems 

Zz3 Germany Locksmith 

Zz4 Belgiu Defence systems 

Zz5 Poland Automotive 

Zz6 Romania Hand tools 

Zz7 USA automotive 

Zz8 USA Pumping stations 

Zz9 Czech Republic automotive 

Zz10 Czech Republic Construction machinery 

Zz11 Hungary Power tools 

Zz12  Hungary Energy industry 

Zz13 England/Sweden Bearing industry 
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Company's revenue forecast for 2023 

In early 2023, the company recorded higher order volume, which was mainly due to an increase in 
demand for products manufactured using PM technology. The increased demand is primarily due 
to customers' desire for savings and thus their focus on new technologies that allow them to 
reduce costs as is the case with PM technology. The increase in orders due to a similar reason was 
experienced by the company in the context of the crisis in 2008-2009. As a consequence of this 
trend, the Company expects an increase in revenues compared to 2022 

Moreover, during this crisis a new global trend has emerged - the European industry is trying to 
cut itself off from Asian suppliers, which opens the door to new business opportunities for 
GEVORKYAN, a.s. within the European and American market.  

 

6. Impact of the company's activities on the environment 
 

Health and safety at work, together with the environment, are among society's most important 

values. Respect for the environment and the will to continue this development is demonstrated by 

the fact that the company employs highly qualified professionals responsible for health, safety at 

work and the environment. More than 90% of the company's waste is recycled or reused, reducing 

the negative impact on the environment. 

 

The company's experts are constantly working to make the use of natural resources more efficient. 

Heat from production processes is also used to heat the company's premises in winter. Another 

project for the coming year is the installation of heat recuperators to use waste heat from the 

compressor station to heat domestic water and office space 

The company is certified for the environmental management system according to STN EN ISO 

14001:2016. In 2020 the company successfully passed the recertification audit, the next one is 

scheduled for 2023.  

The Company does not provide additional non-financial information on the development, actions, 

position and impact of the entity's activities on environmental, social and employment issues, 

information on compliance with human rights and information on the fight against corruption and 

bribery as it does not meet the requirement on the number of employees specified in section 20(9) 

of the Accounting Act. 
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7. Economic indicators and financial situation  
 

Business name of the company  GEVORKYAN, a.s. 

Headquarters  
Factory 504 
Vlkanová 976 31  

Day of registration in the commercial register 20.1.1997 

Legal form  Joint stock  

Subject of activity  Activities in the field of powder metallurgy  
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8. Risks to the company's future development  
 

To date, there are no significant risks that could materially jeopardise the Company's operations.  

Threats are managed by risk analysis. One of the most effective tools is FMEA (Failure Mode and 

Effects Analysis) to uncover risks. In addition, the company has a regular risk analysis of each 

process, which is broken down in process cards, along with risk assessment, corrective actions 

and analysis of the effectiveness of corrective actions.   

The financing of the operation was spread over 2 main financing banks. Each of them financed its 

own group of customers/projects.  

In order to increase the elimination of the risk of a shortfall in the supply of basic materials for 

production, a programme of diversification of suppliers of metal powders was implemented. 

Backup power supplies were also installed for the CNC machine control units. 

To reduce the risk of non-payment of invoices by customers, GEVORKYAN, a.s. has extended its 

cooperation with the Atradius insurance company for the insurance of receivables and analysis of 

business partners. 

Contracts for product liability insurance have also been extended. 

No events of particular significance requiring disclosure in the annual report have occurred after 

the end of the 2022 financial year. 

 

9. Governance Statement 
 

The Code of Corporate Governance is part of the Code of Ethics, the Quality Policy as well as the 

Quality Manual. The Code of Ethics and the Quality Policy are publicly available for viewing on the 

Company's website.  

All information on management methods is contained in the Quality Manual, which is an important 

internal document of GEVORKYAN, a.s. A description of the main internal control and risk 

management systems in relation to the financial statements is presented in section 8 of this Annual 

Report. 

The General Assembly is the supreme body of GEVORKYAN, a.s. It is held at least once a year and 

is convened by the company's Board of Directors. The Board of Directors of the Company is 

composed of one member, namely the Chairman of the Board of Directors, who is Artur 

Gevorkyan. The General Meeting of Shareholders at the Ordinary Meeting approves the financial 

statements, profit distribution, decides on the issue of shares or share buy-back and approves the 

auditor or an extraordinary meeting may be approved.  
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Another body of the company is the Supervisory Board, which is composed of the Chairman and 

two other members.  This body is elected and appointed by the general meeting of shareholders. 

It elects the company's board of directors, supervises the company's operations and its 

management, checks the annual accounts and business results. 

 

10. Important events and information 
 

A description of significant events that have occurred and their impact on the financial statements 

and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties  

In February 2022, a military conflict broke out in Ukraine, which is still ongoing at the time of the 

preparation of these financial statements. In connection with this, there have been, among other 

things, impacts on business in Ukraine and Russia due to the war and economic sanctions, increases 

in market prices for raw materials, fuels and energy, and increased volatility in currency exchange 

rates. Although the quantification of the potential impact on the Company cannot be estimated 

with sufficient reliability at this time, the Company has analyzed the potential impact of changing 

micro and macroeconomic conditions on the Company's performance, financial position and 

operations and has not identified any uncertainty in relation to the Company's continued 

operations 

In addition, the company has seen an increase in demand from companies operating in the EU and 

US defence industries.  

The complete financial report will be available on the website www.gevorkyan.sk and in printed 

form at the registered office of GEVORKYAN, a.s. at Továrenská street no. 504, 976 31 Vlkanová. 

The Company does not include in the annual report, in accordance with point 13, §20 of Act No. 

431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, non-financial information on the development, actions, position and 

impact of the entity's activities on the environmental, social and employment spheres, information 

on the observance of human rights and on the fight against corruption and bribery, as the average 

number of employees of the Company for the accounting period did not exceed 500 employees. 

Information on the composition of the company's bodies and their committees 

The Supervisory Board of GEVORKYAN Inc. acted as the Audit Committee during the year. During 

the year 2022, it was composed of Ing. Andrej Bátovský (Chairman of the Committee), Robert 

Gevorkyan (member) and Denisa Kvasová (member). During the year, the Supervisory Board was 

presented with reports on the preparation of the financial statements, the audit process and the 

internal control system. Meetings were also held with all members of the Supervisory Board during 

the year. The Chairman of the Management Board of GEVORKYAN a.s. is: Dipl. Ing. Artur 

Gevorkyan. The shareholders of Gevorkyan are. Artur Gevorkyan (77 % shareholding), JEREMIE Co-
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Investment Fund s.r.o. (2.6 %) and BHS Fund II - Private Equity (2.6 %), other shareholders (free 

float shares) 17.8 % 

 

Description of the main internal control and risk management systems in relation to the financial 

statements 

The financial statements of GEVORKYAN, a.s. for the year 2022 have been prepared in accordance 

with Act No. 431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, as amended, assuming the going concern basis and 

have been prepared as regular financial statements. 

The Company has also prepared interim financial statements as at 31 March 2022, 30 June 2022 
and 30 September 2022 during the year 2022. 

 

The internal control system is carried out in accordance with the basic internal directive and other 

internal directives which are subordinate to the basic accounting directive and in accordance with 

the applicable accounting legislation. These directives govern the various areas and methods of 

accounting for: tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets, financial assets, inventories, 

receivables, payables, provisions, accruals, equity, foreign currency transactions, revenue, finance 

leases, income tax, subsidies and corrections of prior period errors. These guidelines have been 

submitted to the audit firm and are also available to all members of the Audit Committee. Mr. Artur 

Gevorkyan is responsible for the accuracy of the financial statements.  

Control of the interim statements is carried out on a monthly basis, by taking stock of the balances 

of the individual accounts. Other control processes were carried out in accordance with the 

internal accounting directive. In addition to these regular controls, the company is audited annually 

by Ernst & Young Slovakia, spol. s r.o. GEVORKYAN, a.s. takes care to educate its employees by 

regular external training in the areas of accounting, reporting, taxes and accounting laws. We also 

regularly subscribe to the latest literature with changes in legislation and during the year individual 

accounting entries are consulted with the auditors.  

Information on the activities of the General Assembly for 2022 

During 2022, two meetings of the General Assembly of GEVORKYAN, Inc. were held 

On 23.5.2022 the Extraordinary General Meeting was held, the subject of which was the approval 

of the written report of the Board of Directors, the decision on the increase of the company's share 

capital and the decision on the change of the company's Articles of Association.  

At the second ordinary general meeting held on 30 December 2022, the report of the company's 

management board on the company's business activities was discussed and approved, the opinion 

of the company's supervisory board on the company's annual financial statements for 2021 and 

the company's annual report for 2021 was presented to the shareholders, the company's annual 
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financial statements for 2021 and the company's annual report for 2021 were discussed and 

approved, the company's profit distribution for 2021 was discussed and approved, and the 

company's auditors for 2022 were discussed and approved.  

The General Meeting decided that the audit services for 2022 will be performed by Ernst & Young 

Slovakia, spol. s r.o.  

The General Meeting, on the proposal of the Board of Directors of the Company, at its ordinary 
session, approved the distribution of the profit after tax for the year 2021 in the amount of EUR 2 
282 998.01 as follows:  
 

• an allocation to the legal reserve of EUR 228 299,80  

• transfer to retained earnings of previous years of EUR 2 054 698,21; 
 
Information on the development, conduct, position and impact of the entity's activities on 

environmental, social and employment issues, information on respect for human rights and on the 

fight against corruption and bribery 

The Company does not include in the annual report, in accordance with point 13, §20 of Act No. 

431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, non-financial information on the development, actions, position and 

impact of the entity's activities on the environmental, social and employment spheres, information 

on the observance of human rights and on the fight against corruption and bribery, as the average 

number of employees of the Company for the accounting period did not exceed 500 employees. 

Other additional data 

Securities issued by the Company are not restricted as to transferability.  

The company does not have a qualified participation in the share capital according to a special 

regulation. 

The voting rights attached to the Company's shares are not restricted. Holders of securities issued 

by the Company do not have special control rights. 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company is not aware of any agreements among the holders of 

securities issued by it that may result in restrictions on the transferability of securities and 

restrictions on voting rights. 

The Company has not entered into any agreements that become effective, are modified or 

terminated as a result of a change in control in connection with the Takeover Offer. 

The Company has not entered into any agreements with directors or employees to compensate 

them if their office or employment is terminated by resignation, resignation by the employee, 

dismissal, termination by the employer without cause or termination of office or employment as a 

result of a takeover bid. 
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11. Attachments (Certificates of the company and sample articles about 

the company in the media in Slovakia and the Czech Republic) 
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The balance sheet, income statement and notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

1. COMPANY DESCRIPTION 

GEVORKYAN, a.s. (hereinafter referred to as the "Company") is a joint stock company established on 
September 16, 1996. On 20 January 1997 it was entered into the Commercial Register kept at the 
District Court of Banská Bystrica, Section Sa, Insert 1232/S. On 13 May 2022, the company changed 
its legal form from the original limited liability company to the current joint-stock company. The 
company's registered office is located at Továrenská 504, Vlkanová, Slovak Republic, identification 
number 36 017 205 

The main subject of activity is: 

1. Research and development in the natural and technical sciences 
2. Activities in the field of powder metallurgy 
3. Research and development in the social sciences and humanities  
4. Purchase of goods for sale to the final consumer in the scope of free trade 
5. Purchase of goods for sale to other traders in the scope of free trade  
6. Mediation of trade and services in the scope of free trade  
7. Toolmaking 
8. Heat treatment of metals  
9. Metal surface treatment  
10. Repair of mechanical parts of machinery and equipment  
11. Welding work  
12. Design work in the field of engineering  
13. Manufacture of medical devices 
14. Manufacture of rubber and plastic products 
15. Textile production 
16. Manufacture of pulp, paper, paperboard and articles of these materials 
 
Information on the number of employees 

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding 

accounting period 

Average headcount 180  

Number of employees at the date of the 
financial statements, of which: 

172  

number of senior staff 4  

 

Information on the structure of shareholders as of 31.12.2022 

Companion 
Amount of share in the share capital Share of voting 

rights in % 

Other share of 
other VI items 
than ZI in % 

Absolutely v % 

Artur Gevorkyan EUR 12 849 758 77,14% 77,14% -  

JEREMIE EUR 437 357 2,63% 2,63%  

BHS Fund PE EUR 437 357 2,63% 2,63%  

Free float EUR 2 932 800 17,61% 17,61%  

Total EUR 16 657 272  100% 100% - 
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Information on the structure of shareholders as of 31.12.2021 

Companion 

Amount of share in the share capital 
Share of voting 

rights in % 

Other share of 
other VI items 
than ZI in % Absolutely v % 

Artur  EUR 12 949 758  93,00%  93,00%  - 

JEREMIE Co-Investment Fund, s.r.o.  EUR 487 357  3,50%  3,50%  - 

BHS Fund II. - Private Equity, investment 
fund with variable share capital, a.s.  

EUR 487 357  3,50%  3,50%  - 

Total EUR 13 924 472 100,00% 100,00% - 

 
The Company is not an unlimited partner in any undertaking. 

Members of statutory bodies as at 31 December 2022: 

Board of Directors 

Dipl. Ing. Artur Gevorkyan - Chairman 
of the Board 

 

Supervisory Board 

Ing. Andrej Bátovský - Chairman 

Robert Gevorkyan - Member 

Denisa Kvasnová - Member 

 

 
The company does not have a branch abroad 

2. BASIC STARTING POINTS FOR THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Act No. 431/2002 Coll. on Accounting, 
as amended, assuming the continuity of its activities and is prepared as a regular financial statement.  

The financial statements of the Company for the preceding financial year to 31 December 2021 were 
approved by the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 30 December 2022. 

3. GENERAL ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 

The accounting policies and methods used by the Company in the preparation of the 2022 and 2021 
financial statements are as follows:  

a) Intangible fixed assets 

Purchased intangible fixed assets are measured at cost, which includes the acquisition price and the 
costs associated with their acquisition. 

Own generated intangible fixed assets are measured at cost, which includes direct material and labour 
costs and production overheads (or part of administrative costs). 
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Intangible fixed assets acquired by other means are measured at the replacement cost at which the 
asset would have been acquired at the time it is accounted for. This cost shall be determined by 
professional appraisal, expert opinion or by special regulations. 

Intangible fixed assets (know-how) acquired by way of a contribution in kind to the share capital are 
valued at their general value, which is ascertained by an expert's report or according to special 
regulations. 

Depreciation 

Intangible fixed assets are amortised to cost over the estimated useful life of the asset. The estimated 
useful lives, amortisation method and amortisation rate are determined for each class of intangible fixed 
assets as follows: 

 Estimated period of use Annual depreciation rate Depreciation method 

Software 4 1/4 evenly 

Valuable rights (know-how) 50 1/50 evenly 

The Company annually assesses the existence of indicators of impairment of the valuation rights based 
on an updated sales forecast. If indicators of impairment of the valuation rights are identified, the 
Company prepares a calculation of the valuation allowance for the valuation rights. 

In the event of a temporary impairment of the useful value of an intangible fixed asset, a valuation 
allowance shall be made for the difference between its recoverable amount and its residual value. 

b) Tangible fixed assets 

Purchased property, plant and equipment is valued at cost, which includes the purchase price, freight, 
customs duties and other acquisition-related costs. 

Self-generated tangible fixed assets are valued at cost, which includes direct material and labour costs 
and production overheads 

Tangible fixed assets acquired free of charge from a partner are measured at fair cost and credited to 
the other capital funds account. The fair cost of these assets has been determined on the basis of an 
expert's report. 

The cost of technical improvements to property, plant and equipment increases its cost. Repairs and 
maintenance are charged to expense. 

Depreciation 

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated to cost over the estimated useful life of the asset. Depreciation 
begins in the month in which the fixed asset is brought into use. Small tangible fixed assets with a cost 
of EUR 1 700 or less shall be depreciated once when they are put into service. 

In the event of a temporary diminution in the use value of a tangible fixed asset, a valuation allowance 
shall be made for the difference between its recoverable amount and its residual value. 

 

 
Estimated period of 

use (years) 
Annual depreciation rate Depreciation method 
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Buildings 60 1/60 evenly 

Means of transport 4 1/4 evenly 

Foxes 30 1/30 evenly 

Furnaces 35 1/35 evenly 

MIM (Metal Injection Moulding) 
machines 35 1/35 evenly 

HIP (Hot isostatic pressing) machines 35 1/35 evenly 

Machinery, apparatus and equipment 20 1/20 evenly 

Tools 15 1/15 evenly 
 

c) Financial assets 

Current financial assets consist of securities, cash and cash at bank.  

Non-current financial assets consist mainly of equity participations.  

If there is a decline in the value of a financial asset that is not revalued to fair value at the reporting date, 
the difference is treated as a temporary impairment and is recognised as a valuation allowance. 

d) Inventory 

Purchased inventories are valued at cost using the fixed price method and valuation differences. The 
cost of inventories includes the purchase price and the costs associated with their acquisition (freight 
costs, customs duties, commissions, etc.). Discounts, rebates and discounts received reduce the cost 
of inventories.  

Inventories generated by own activities are valued at own cost. Own costs include direct material and 
labour costs and indirect production costs. Production overheads include servicing and repair of 
machinery, consumption of electricity, water and gas, depreciation of assets, wages of foremen, internal 
logistics costs, etc.  

In the event of a temporary diminution in the use value of inventories, a valuation allowance is made.  

e) Claims 

Receivables are valued at nominal value. Assigned receivables and receivables acquired by way of 
contribution to share capital are valued at cost. The valuation of doubtful debts is adjusted to their 
realisable value by an allowance . 

The Company establishes allowances for past-due unliquidated accounts receivable as follows: 

period 
         

the amount of the provision 

overdue 
   

0% 
        

overdue > 360 days < 720 days 
   

20% 
        

overdue > 720 days < 1080 days 
  

50% 
        

overdue > 1080 days 
  

100% 
        

f) Deferred charges and deferred income 

Deferred charges and deferred income are measured at their nominal value and are recognised at the 
amount necessary to comply with the principle of materiality and timing of the accounting period. 
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g) Commitments  

Long-term and short-term liabilities are reported at their nominal values. If, on taking stock, the amount 
of the liabilities is found to be different from their amount in the accounts, the liabilities shall be entered 
in the accounts and in the financial statements at the valuation so found. 

Long-term, short-term loans and bonds are stated at nominal value. The portion of long-term loans that 
mature within one year of the balance sheet date is also considered to be short-term borrowings. Long-
term loans and bonds are also recognised as short-term loans in the event of covenant breaches at the 
balance sheet date. 

h) Reserves  

Provisions are liabilities with an indefinite timing or amount and are made to cover known risks or losses 
of the business. They are measured at the expected amount of the liability. 

The creation of a provision shall be charged to the relevant expense or asset account to which the 
liability relates. The use of the provision shall be debited to the relevant reserve account with a 
corresponding credit to the relevant liability account. The release of an unneeded provision or part of a 
provision shall be accounted for by an accounting entry opposite to the one used to account for the 
creation of the provision. 

i) Accrued expenses and deferred income 

Deferred outflows and deferred inflows are measured at their nominal value and are recognised at the 
amount necessary to comply with the principle of materiality and timing of the accounting period. 

j) Equity 

Shareholders' equity consists of share capital, share premium, other capital funds, statutory reserve 
fund and profit or loss subject to approval.  

The share capital of the company is shown in the amount registered in the commercial register of the 
district court. Any increase or decrease in the share capital based on a decision of the General Meeting 
of Shareholders that has not been registered at the date of the financial statements is accounted for as 
a change in the share capital.  

Other capital funds are made up of non-cash deposits representing tangible fixed assets.  

The company creates a reserve fund in the amount of 10% of the net profit until the amount of the 
reserve fund reaches 20% of the share capital in accordance with §217 of Act 513/1991 Coll. 

k) Transactions in foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into euros at the reference exchange rate determined 
and announced by the European Central Bank or the National Bank of Slovakia on the day preceding 
the date of the accounting event. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate 
prevailing at the date of the financial statements. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the 
income statement. 

Purchases and sales of foreign currency are converted into euro at the rate at which they were bought 
or sold.  
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l) Revenue 

Revenue from own performance and goods does not include value added tax. They are also net of 
discounts and deductions (rebates, bonuses, discounts, credit notes, etc.). Sales are accounted for on 
the date of completion of the delivery or service in accordance with the Commercial Code, the Incoterms 
or other terms agreed in the contract.   

Revenue from own performance and goods also includes revenue from co-operations, where the 
product is sold for further processing to so-called co-operators. This processing is necessary for the 
resale of the product and the proceeds from the sale of products to external customers. In these sales, 
the rights and obligations of ownership of the products are transferred to the co-operators. At the time 
of the transfer of rights and obligations, the Company accounts for the proceeds of the sale. 

m) Financial leasing 

The Company accounts for finance leases by capitalising the asset acquired by way of finance lease on 
the date of receipt of the leased asset at a valuation equal to the principal amount. The lease payments 
are allocated between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability, i.e. the principal. 
The finance charge is expensed on a straight-line basis. 

Assets acquired under operating leases are charged to expense over the term of the lease agreement. 
Rentals for assets acquired under operating leases are charged to expense on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease agreement. 

n) Income tax u 

Income tax expense is calculated using the enacted tax rate on accounting profit adjusted for permanent 
or temporary non-tax deductible expenses and non-taxable income. Deferred taxes (deferred tax asset 
and deferred tax liability) relate to: 

− temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in the 
balance sheet and their tax bases, 

− the possibility to amortise a tax loss in the future, which means the possibility to deduct a tax loss 
from the tax base in the future, 

− the ability to carry forward unused tax credits and other tax entitlements. 

 
The Company always accounts for a deferred tax liability, and it accounts for a receivable when it is 
recoverable. 
 
o) Subsidies/Investment Offers 

The company is implementing a project called "Purchase of advanced technology for the production of 
technological parts" supported by the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak Republic within the Operational 
Programme Competitiveness and Economic Growth. The main objective of the project is to increase 
competitiveness by installing an innovative technology enabling to improve quality and increase 
employment of young people. The non-repayable financial contribution was settled with the payment of 
the last amount on 14 March 2016. 

The company implements a project called "Innovation of the production process of spatial modelling of 
engineering products made of combined materials" supported by the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak 
Republic within the Operational Programme Research and Innovation. The main objective of the project 
is to support research, development and innovation. The non-repayable financial contribution was 
settled by several reimbursements during the calendar year 2019. 
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p) Corrections of errors of previous accounting periods 

The Company has not accounted for the correction of material errors of prior periods.
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4. FIXED ASSETS 

(a) Intangible fixed assets 

Information on intangible fixed assets 

Intangible fixed assets 

Current accounting period 

Activated 
development 

costs 
Software 

Appreciable 
rights 

Goodwill Other DNM 
Purchased 

DNM 

Advances 
granted for 

DNM 
Total 

Initial award         

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 152 057 13 870 996 0 534 422 0 0 14 557 475 

Additions   18 540      18 540 

Outflows        0 

Transfers        0 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 170 597 13 870 996 0 534 422 0 0 14 576 015 

Corrections         

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 149 127 2 533 037 0 139 841 0 0 2 822 005 

Additions  5 134 277 420  10 688   293 242 

Outflows        0 

Transfers        0 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 154 260 2 810 457 0 150 530 0 0 3 115 247 

Allowances         

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions        0 
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Outflows        0 

Transfers        0 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Residual value          

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 2 930 11 337 959 0 394 581 0 0 11 735 470 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 16 337 11 060 539 0 383 892 0 0 11 460 768 

Valuable rights are know-how, and specifically: 

1) for powder metallurgy, which represents scientific, production and technical, technological knowledge and business information used in the processing 
and sale of powder metals. The know-how was contributed to the company (share capital) as a contribution in kind in 2004 and its initial valuation of EUR 
2 164 376 represents the general value of the assets on the basis of an expert's report drawn up as at 26 July 2004. Until 31 December 2015, this intangible 
asset had not been amortised.  

2) for Metal injection molding (MIM) which is the most advanced method of joining metals by powder metal injection molding on injection molding machines. 
The know-how was contributed to the company (share capital) as a contribution in kind in 2014 and its initial valuation of EUR 11 706 620 represents the 
general value of the assets based on an expert's report prepared as at 30 June 2014. This intangible asset has not been amortised in the accounts up to 
31 December 2015. 

In determining the amortisation period for the know-how, the Company took into account the fact that powder metallurgy as an industry is one of the most 
progressive technical sectors in the world. The company expects to use the know-how for at least the next 50 years due to the global growth of the electric 
vehicle and aerospace industries, as well as emerging industries such as 3D printing, which will provide a high demand for powder metallurgy products 
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Intangible fixed assets 

Immediately preceding accounting period 

Activated 
development 

costs 
Software 

Appreciable 
rights 

Goodwill Other DNM 
Purchased 

DNM 

Advances 
granted for 

DNM 
Total 

Initial award         

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 152 057 13 870 996 0 534 422 0 0 14 557 475 

Additions        0 

Outflows        0 

Transfers        0 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 152 057 13 870 996 0 534 422 0 0 14 557 475 

Corrections         

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 145 853 2 255 617 0 129 153 0 0 2 530 623 

Additions  3 274 277 420  10 688   291 382 

Outflows        0 

Transfers        0 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 149 127 2 533 037 0 139 841 0 0 2 822 005 

Allowances         

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions        0 

Outflows        0 

Transfers        0 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Residual value          



VAT 2020085606           
 ID 36017205        

 
GEVORKYAN, a.s 
Notes to the individual financial statements at 31 December 2022 

 

 

23 

The balance sheet, income statement and notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

Situation at the beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 6 204 11 615 379 0 405 269 0 0 12 026 852 

Situation at the end of the accounting 
period 

0 2 930 11 337 959 0 394 581 0 0 11 735 470 

 

Intangible fixed assets Value for the current accounting period 

Intangible fixed assets subject to a pledge  

Intangible fixed assets for which the entity has a restricted 
right of disposal 

 

 

Information on the research and development activities of the entity for the current accounting period broken down into: 

− research costs of EUR 815 405, 

− non-activated development costs of EUR 1 334 300,  

− EUR 0 development costs capitalised. 
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(b) Tangible fixed assets 

Information on tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed 
assets 

Current accounting period 

Land Buildings 

Separate 
movables and 

sets of 
movables 

Growing  units  
of permanent 

crops 

Basic herd and 
draft animals 

Other DHM 
DHM to be 
acquired 

Advances 
granted for 

DHM 
Total 

Initial award 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

440 784 4 161 050 82 110 604 0 0 0 3 795 692 43 781 90 551 911 

Additions  303 359 23 353 371    3 807 200 2 000 939 29 464 870 

Outflows   7 800 158      7 800 158 

Transfers   2 234 088    -2 190 307  -43 781 0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

440 784 4 464 409 99 897 905 0   5 412 585 2 000 939 112 216 622 

Corrections 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 936 071 16 505 874 0 0 0 0 0 17 441 945 

Additions  65 215 9 475 720      9 540 934 

Outflows   5 031 293      5 031 293 

Transfers         0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 1 001 285 20 950 300 0 0 0 0 0 21 951 586 

Allowances 
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Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions          

Outflows          

Transfers          

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Residual value  

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

440 784 3 224 979 65 604 730 0 0 0 3 795 692 43 781 73 109 966 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

440 784 3 463 124 78 947 604 0 0 0 5 412 585 2 000 939 90 265 037 
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Tangible fixed 
assets 

Immediately preceding accounting period 

Land Buildings 

Separate 
movables and 

sets of 
movables 

Growing  units  
of permanent 

crops 

Basic herd and 
draft animals 

Other DHM 
DHM to be 
acquired 

Advances 
granted for 

DHM 
Total 

Initial award 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

440 784 4 138 237 65 040 115 0 0 0 3 391 149 35 000 73 045 285 

Additions  22 813  19 991 034    3 795 692 43 781 23 853 220 

Outflows   6 346 694      6 346 694 

Transfers   3 426 149    -3 391 149 -35 000  0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

440 784 4 161 050 82 110 604 0 0 0 3 795 692 43 781 90 551 911 

Corrections 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 873 772 12 327 570 0 0 0 0 0 13 201 342 

Additions  62 299 7 330 806      7 393 105 

Outflows   3 152 502      3 152 502 

Transfers         0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 936 071 16 505 874 0 0 0 0 0 17 441 945 

Allowances 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

        0 

Additions         0 

Outflows         0 
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Transfers         0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Residual value  

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

440 784 3 264 465 52 712 545 0 0 0 3 391 149 35 000 59 843 943 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

440 784 3 224 979 65 604 730 0 0 0 3 795 692 43 781 73 109 966 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2022 and 2021, the Company did not acquire any property, plant and equipment for no consideration. 

Property insurance 

Fixed assets are insured by UNIQA and Allianz-Slovenská poist'ovňa. Property insurance includes mainly insurance of production machinery (machine 
breakage and elemental damage) and motor vehicle insurance (accident insurance). The annual limit of indemnity is EUR 43 340 782,20 for all insurance 
locations in the territory of the Slovak Republic. The company's property is insured for the new value.

Tangible fixed assets Value for the current accounting period 

Fixed tangible assets subject to a pledge 17 132 875 

Tangible fixed assets for which the entity has a restricted right 
of disposal 
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(c) Non-current financial assets 

Information on non-current financial assets 

Non-current 
financial assets 

Current accounting period 

Unit-linked 
CPs and 

shares in UITs 

Unit-linked CPs 
and shares  

in the company 
with substantial 

influence 

Other long-
term CP and 

shares 

Loans to the 
UU  

in cons. whole 
Other DFM 

Loans with a 
maximum 

maturity of one 
year 

DFM procured 
Advances 

made to the 
DFM 

Total 

Initial award 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions         0 

Outflows          

Transfers         0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Allowances 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions         0 

Outflows          

Transfers         0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Book value 
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Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Non-current 
financial assets 

Immediately preceding accounting period 

Unit-linked 
CPs and 

shares in UITs 

Unit-linked CPs 
and shares  

in the company 
with substantial 

influence 

Other long-
term CP and 

shares 

Loans to the 
UU  

in cons. whole 
Other DFM 

Loans with a 
maximum 

maturity of one 
year 

DFM procured 
Advances 

made to the 
DFM 

Total 

Initial award 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

  2 247 654      2 247 654 

Additions         0 

Outflows   2 247       2 247 654 

Transfers         0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Allowances 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

  1 172 909      1 172 909 

Additions         0 

Outflows   1 172 909      1 172 909 

Transfers         0 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Book value 
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Situation at the 
beginning of the 
accounting period 

0 0 1 074 745 0 0 0 0 0 1 074 745 

Situation at the end 
of the accounting 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Non-current financial assets Value for the current accounting period 

Fixed financial assets subject to a pledge 0  

Non-current financial assets for which the entity has a 
restricted right of disposal 

0  

 
At the end of 2021, the Company sold its interest in GPM Tools, Ltd. The interest was 0.049% of the 
share capital, which represented an 18% interest in the decision-making rights.  

5. INVENTORY 

The valuation of surplus, obsolete and low-turnover inventories is reduced to a lower value in use 
through write-downs. The valuation allowance was determined by the Company's management based 
on the expected ratio of the realised cost of inventories compared to the cost or purchase price. 

Information on inventory valuation allowances 

Inventory 

Current accounting period 

IP balance at the 
beginning of the 

accounting 
period 

Creating  
OP 

Clearance of 
OPs due to the 

cessation of 
justi- 

Eligibility 

Clearance of 
OPs due to 

asset retirement  
off the books 

IP balance at the 
end of the 

accounting 
period 

Material 0 0 0 0 0 

Work in progress and 
semi-finished products of 
own production 

38 160   0  

Products 24 327   0  

Total stocks 62 487   0  

 

On the basis of previous experience with product recycling (note 18), the management decided, on the 
basis of the precautionary principle, to make a general provision for work in progress, own semi-finished 
goods and finished goods in the amount of EUR 62 thousand for a possible future reduction in the 
economic benefits from these assets. 

As at 31 December 2022, a lien on the inventories is established in favour of UniCredit Bank Czech 
Republic and Slovakia, a.s., a branch of a foreign bank. 

Inventory Value for the current accounting period 

Stocks on which a lien is established 24 008 859 

Inventories for which the entity has a restricted right of disposal 0 
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6. BENEFITS 

Information on the development of the allowance for doubtful debts 

Claims 

Current accounting period 

IP balance at 
the beginning 

of the 
accounting 

period 

Formation of 
the OP 

Clearance of 
OPs due to the 

cessation of 
justi- 

Eligibility 

Clearance of 
OPs due to 

asset 
retirement  

off the books 

IP balance at 
the end of the 

accounting 
period 

Trade receivables  6 291 7 150 1 625 0 11 816 

Receivables due from subsidiary 
and parent 

0 0 0 0 0 

Other receivables within the 
consolidated entity 

0 0 0 0 0 

Receivables from shareholders, 
members and the association 

0 0 0 0 0 

Other receivables 0 0 0 0 0 

Total receivables  6 291 7 150 1 625 0 11 816 

The Company makes allowances for past due receivables depending on their age structure. Further 
details are provided in section 3. e) Receivables. 
 
The receivables are insured by Atradius and Respect. 
Receivables due from related parties (note 19). 
Information on the age structure of claims 

Item name Past due Overdue Total receivables 

Short-term receivables    

Trade receivables, of which: 21 429 817 2 141 865  23 571 682 

Co-operators 
7 013 928  

 
18 691  

 
7 032 619  

 

External customers 5 157 149 742 944 
5 899 890  

 

Related parties (point 19) 9 258 740 1 380 230 10 638 970 

Tax receivables and subsidies 822 886 0 822 886 

Other receivables 
52 026 

 
0 

52 026 
 

Total short-term receivables 22 304 729  2 141 865 24 446 594 
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Information on claims secured by a pledge or other form of security 

Description of the subject of the pledge 
Current accounting period 

Value of the object Claim value 

Receivables covered by a pledge or other 
form of security 

0 0 

Value of claims on which a pledge has been 
established 

13 746 092 13 746 092 

The value of receivables for which the right of 
disposal is restricted 

0 0 

7. FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS 

Information on short-term financial assets 

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding accounting 

period 

Treasury, valuables 1 884 1 733 

Current accounts with a bank or branch of a 
foreign bank 

2 719 653 1 235 007 

Deposit accounts with a bank or branch of a 
foreign bank term 

0 0 

Money on the way 0 0 

Total 2 721 537 1 236 740 

 

The company has an overdraft account with UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s., which 
allows it to draw on a loan of up to EUR 12 273 000. As at 31 December 2022, the overdraft balance (in 
accordance with the agreed credit facility) was EUR 0 

The company has an overdraft account with Komerční banka, a.s., which allows it to draw a loan of up 
to EUR 2 392 656. As at 31 December 2022, the overdraft balance (in accordance with the agreed credit 
facility) was EUR 0. 

8. TIME RESOLUTION 

Information on significant accruals 

Description of the accrual item Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding 

accounting period 

Current deferred charges, of which: 1 608 6 027 

Insurance 
1 608 6 027 

Deferred income, current, of which: 0 1 613 

Sale of goods 
0 1 613 
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9. HAIR PROPERTY 

The company's share capital is composed of 16 657 272 fully subscribed and paid-up shares with a 
nominal value of EUR 1. 

Information on the distribution of an accounting profit or the settlement of an accounting loss 

Item name Immediately preceding accounting period 

Accounting profit  2 282  

Distribution of accounting profit Current accounting period 

Allocation to the legal reserve 228 300 

Contribution to statutory and other funds  

Contribution to the social fund  

Allocation for capital increase  

Reimbursement of past losses  

Transfer to retained earnings of previous years 2 054 698 

Distribution of profit share to shareholders, members  

Other   

Total 2 282 998 

10. RESERVES 

Information on reserves 

Item name 

Current accounting period 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 

accounting 
period 

Creating Use Cancel 

Situation at the 
end of the 

accounting 
period 

Short-term provisions, of 
which: 

225 427 189 999 -157 035 0 189 999 

Untaken leave 157 035 166 499 -157 035 0 166 499 

Audit 18 963 23 500 -18 963 0 23 500 

Other 49 429 0 -49 429 0 0 
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Item name 

Immediately preceding accounting period 

Situation at the 
beginning of the 

accounting 
period 

Creating Use Cancel 

Situation at the 
end of the 

accounting 
period 

Short-term reserves, of 
which: 

151 328 225 427 -151 328 0 225 427 

Untaken leave 132 377 157 035 -132 377 0 157 035 

Audit 18 951 18 963 -18 951 0 18 963 

Other 0 49 429 0 0 49 429 

 

The Company expects to use the reserves in 2023. 

11. THE BRACKETS 

Information on commitments 

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding accounting 

period 

Total non-current liabilities  51 872 723 56 542 975 

Liabilities with a remaining maturity of more 
than five years 

 229 237 

Liabilities with a residual maturity of one to 
five years 

51 872 723 56 313 738 

Total current liabilities 19 895 811 15 311 215 

Liabilities with residual maturity  
up to and including one year 

18 288 768 13 540 062 

Overdue accounts payable 1 607 043 1 771 153 

Payables to related parties (note 19). 

 

  



VAT 2020085606           
 ID 36017205        

 
GEVORKYAN, a.s 
Notes to the individual financial statements at 31 December 2022 

 

 

36 

The balance sheet, income statement and notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

12. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 

Information on deferred tax liability  

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding accounting 

period 

Temporary differences between the 
carrying amount of assets and the 
tax base, of which: 

 -15 881 267 

Deductible  62 487 

Taxable  -15 943 754 

Temporary differences between the 
carrying amount of liabilities and the 
tax base, of which: 

 1 567 900 

Deductible  1 567 900 

Taxable   

Ability to amortise tax losses in the 
future 

  

Possibility to transfer unused tax 
deductions 

 0 

Income tax rate ( %)  21% 

Deferred tax asset   

Tax claim applied   

Recognised  as an expense   

Charged to equity   

Deferred tax liability  3 005 807 

Change in deferred tax liability  808 785 

Recognised as an expense  808 785 

Charged to equity   

 
Other 

  

 

The Company has recognised a deferred tax liability of EUR 3 005 807. 
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13. INFORMATION ON SOCIAL FUND COMMITMENTS 

Information on social fund liabilities 

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding accounting 

period 

Initial state of the social fund 23 379 26 702 

Formation of a social fund charged to 
expenses 

16 970 13 442 

Creation of a social fund from profit   

Other social fund formation   

Total social fund formation 16 970 13 442 

Social Fund disbursement  18 538 -16 765 

Final balance of the Social Fund 21 811 23 379 

 

14. BANK LOANS AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

Information on Bonds Issued as at 31 December 2022 (Bonds Issued) 

Name of the issued bond Nominal value Number of Issue price Interest Maturity 
Amortised 

cost 

GEVORKYAN 6.25/2023 209 400 000 CZK 209 400 100% 6,25% 2023 8 683 440 

GEVORKYAN 4.70/2024 EUR 10 000 000 10 000 100% 4,70% 2024 10 139 033 

Total 18 822 473 

 

GEVORKYAN 6.25/23 bonds issued in CZK: 

As at 31 December 2022, the Company must comply with several non-financial covenants related to the 
issue of GEVORKYAN 6.25/2023 bonds (ISIN CZ0000001037) issued in Czech crowns. As at 31 
December 2022, the Company was in breach of one covenant. The Company breached the covenant 
by changing its legal form. This breach allowed the bondholders to apply for early redemption. A total of 
6 bondholders requested redemption of the bonds, resulting in a decrease in the number of bonds issued 
by 10,600 units. The total change in nominal value represents a decrease of CZK 10 600 000. All 
obligations under the bonds in question are being discharged on time and in full. 

GEVORKYAN 4.70/2024 bonds issued in EUR: 

The Company is required to comply with a number of financial and non-financial covenants relating to 
the GEVORKYAN 4.70/2024 bond issue (ISIN SK4120014994) as at 31 December 2022.  As at 31 
December 2022, the Company was in compliance with all defined covenants. All obligations under the 
bonds in question are being discharged on time and in full. 

  



VAT 2020085606           
 ID 36017205        

 
GEVORKYAN, a.s 
Notes to the individual financial statements at 31 December 2022 

 

 

38 

The balance sheet, income statement and notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

Information on bonds issued As at 31 December 2021 

Name of the issued bond Nominal value Number of Issue price Interest Maturity 
Amortised 

cost 

GEVORKYAN 6.25/2023 220 000 000 CZK 220 000 100% 6,25% 2023 8 850 270 

GEVORKYAN 4.70/2024 EUR 10 000 000 10 000 100% 4,70% 2024 10 139 230 

Total 18 989 500 

 

Information on bank credits, loans and short-term financial assistance 

Item name Currency 
Interest p.a. in 

% 
Due date 

Principal 
amount in the 

relevant 
currency for 
the current 
accounting 

period 

Principal 
amount in 

euro for the 
current 

accounting 
period 

Principal 
amount in the 

relevant 
currency for 

the immediately 
preceding 

accounting 
period 

Long-term bank loans 

Slovak Guarantee 
and Development Bank, 
a. s. 

EUR 3,30% 21.10.2027 0 0 902 720 

Slovak Guarantee 
and Development Bank, 
a. s. 

EUR 1,90% 31.12.2026 0 0 1 480 000 

Komerční banka, a.s. EUR 
3M EURIBOR + 

2.30% 
21.9.2025 1 837 500 1 837 500 2 887 500 

Komerční banka, a.s. EUR 
3M EURIBOR + 

2.30% 
30.9.2026 1 979 131 1 979 131 2 819 131 

BKS Bank AG EUR 1,90% 20.6.2027 1 433 333 1 433 333 1 630 000 

Total long-term bank loans 5 249 964 9 719 351 

 

Short-term bank loans 

UniCredit Bank Czech 
Republic and Slovakia, 
a.s. 

EUR 
1M EURIBOR 

+1.90% 
6.11.2022 0 0 3 117 188 

Slovak Guarantee 
and Development Bank, 
a. s. 

EUR 3,30% 31.12.2022 0 0 186 720 

Slovak Guarantee 
and Development Bank, 
a. s. 

EUR 1,90% 31.12.2022 0 0 370 000 

Komerční banka, a.s. EUR 
3M EURIBOR + 

2.30% 
31.12.2022 1 050 000 1 050 000 1 050 000 

Komerční banka, a.s. EUR 
3M EURIBOR + 

2.30% 
31.12.2022 840 000 840 000 840 000 

BKS Bank AG EUR 1,90% 31.12.2022 400 000 400 000 200 000 

Total short-term bank loans 2 290 000 5 763 908 

During 2022, the Company repaid loans granted by the following lenders: 
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- UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia, a.s. 
- Slovak Guarantee and Development Bank, a. s. 
 
The loan agreement with Komerční banka, a.s. contains the following specific terms and conditions that 
must be complied with by the company: 

1. Debt service coverage ratio greater than 120%. 
2. A ratio of equity to balance sheet total (total assets) greater than 30%. 
3. Net financial debt to EBITDA on an annual basis below 4.5. 

 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company was not in compliance with the debt service coverage ratio 
covenants. The Company has communicated this non-performance to the Bank in a timely manner and 
has received written notice from Komerční banka, a.s. in which the Bank accepts the non-performance 
of these covenants as of December 31, 2022 and also confirms that it will not exercise any of its rights 
arising from the covenant non-performance. 
 

The loan agreement with BKS Bank AG contains the following specific terms and conditions that the 
company must comply with: 

1. Ratio of equity to total assets greater than 25% 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with these covenants. 
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15. TIME RESOLUTION 

Information on significant accruals on the liability side 

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding accounting 

period 

Non-current deferred expenses, of which:   

   

Current deferred expenses, of which:   

Interest   

Deferred income long-term,  
of which: 

2 332 404 2 445 754 

Non-returnable financial contribution 2 332 404 2 445 754 

Short-term deferred income,  
of which: 

1 906 213 488 440 

Non-returnable financial contribution 113 351 113 351 

Other 1 792 863 375 089 

 

The Contract for the Provision of Non-Grantable Financial Contribution No. KaHR-111SP-
1201/1171/168 concluded between the Company and the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak Republic 
represented by the Slovak Innovation and Energy Agency contains several financial and non-financial 
covenants that the Company must comply with. In the event of non-compliance with these conditions, 
there is a risk of repayment of the non-repayable financial contribution. As at 31 December 2022 and 
31 December 2021, the company complied with these conditions. The company is regularly audited by 
the Slovak Innovation and Energy Agency to ensure compliance with the contract. 

The Contract for the Provision of Non-returnable Financial Contribution No.VaI/DP/2016/1.2.2-02/D379 
concluded between the Company and the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the 
Slovak Republic represented by the Ministry of Economy of the Slovak Republic acting through the 
Slovak Innovation and Energy Agency contains several financial and non-financial covenants that the 
Company must comply with. In the event of non-compliance with these conditions, there is a risk of the 
non-repayment of the non-repayable financial contribution. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 
2021, the Company complied with these conditions. The company is regularly audited by the Slovak 
Innovation and Energy Agency to ensure compliance with the contract.
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16. LEASING (THE COMPANY IS THE TENANT) 

Information on assets leased under finance lease 

Item name 

Current accounting period Immediately preceding accounting period 

Maturity Maturity 

up to and 
including one 

year 

from one 
year to five 

years 
inclusive 

more than 
five years 

up to and 
including one 

year 

from one 
year to five 

years 
inclusive 

more than 
five years 

History 2 087 868 4 979 384 343 204 2 378 375 3 991 195 229 237 

Financial cost 192 898 318 439 7 021 142 938 164 165 2 000 

Total 2 280 766 5 297 823 350 224 2 521 313 4 155 360 231 237 

 

Assets leased under finance leases are mainly presses, furnaces and cars. 
 
The leasing contract with Tatra-Leasing, s.r.o. contains the following specific conditions that the 
company must comply with: 

1. Aggregate DEBT/EBITDA ratio below 5. 
2. Aggregate DSCR greater than 1.3. 
3. A ratio of equity to total liabilities greater than 30%. 

 
As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with these covenants. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Company was not in compliance with the equity to total liabilities ratio 
covenant and, therefore, has recorded the obligations under this contract as current.  
 
 
 

17. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS, OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS  

Given that several areas of Slovak tax law (e.g. transfer pricing legislation) have not yet been sufficiently 
tested in practice, there is uncertainty as to how the tax authorities will apply them. The extent of this 
uncertainty cannot be quantified and will only disappear once legal precedents or official interpretations 
of the competent authorities are available. Management is not aware of any circumstances that would 
result in the Company incurring a material expense.   

18. REVENUE AND COSTS 

Revenue 

Sales information 
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Item name 
Current accounting 

period 
Immediately preceding 

accounting period 
Year-on-

year change 
% 

 

Sales of own products of which: 48 360 912 43 803 248 4 617 319 11%  

External customers or final sales 26 943 200 22 555 582 4 447 272 20%  

  Cooperation products 13 150 637 12 939 687 210 950 2%  

  Related persons 8 267 075 8 307 979 -40 904 0%  

Revenue from the sale of services of 
which: 

10 311 878 10 164 506 147 372 1%  

  Related persons 5 234 085 6 083 213 -849 128 -14%  

Sales of goods of which:      

  Related persons      

Total net turnover 58 672 790 53 967 754 4 764 691 9%  

 
Revenue from co-operative products represents revenue from the sale of work-in-process products that 
require further processing (densification, electroplating, metalworking, etc.) necessary to complete the 
powder metallurgy products to their final state. On sale, the rights and obligations of ownership of the 
work-in-process products are transferred from the company to the co-operators and the revenue is 
accounted for. The Company uses this method of cooperation to eliminate the costs associated with the 
delivery of damaged finished products.      

Data on the change in the stock of intra-company inventories  

Information on changes in intra-organisational inventories 

Item name 

Current 
accounting 

period 

Immediately preceding 
accounting period 

Change in intra-
organisational inventories 

Final balance Final balance Initial state 
Current 

accounting 
period 

Immediate-  
immediately 
preceding- 
preceding 
accounting 

period 

Work in progress and semi-finished 
products of own production 

 10 864 561   1 040 124 

Products  6 926 142   -786 022 

Animals  120   0 

Total  17 790 823   254 102 

Change in intra-organisation 
inventories in the income 
statement 

 x   254 102 

 

In 2022, the Company continued to implement non-destructive product inspection methods. It 
implemented new fully automated workstations using state-of-the-art robots and camera systems to 
discover any defects on products.  
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As a result of these measures, in 2022, the company caught a non-conformity at an exit inspection 
related to products that can be easily damaged during handling. These products were recycled. All 
recycled material was used to manufacture new products that were sold during the year or were reported 
as inventory at December 31, 2022. The Company evaluates the option to reuse all recycled material in 
production as the best and least costly way to avoid the risk of major customer complaints. 

Thanks to the early detection of potential risks, for which the company uses state-of-the-art non-
destructive inspection methods, the total number of non-conforming products claimed by customers for 
2022 was at PPM 150, which means 150 bad products per 1,000,000 units shipped, or only 0.015%. As 
part of the continuation of the long-term quality improvement process, the Company has established an 
automation and robotics department that is specifically dedicated to, among other things, detecting 
hidden defects in products using camera systems, robotic lines, etc., thereby significantly reducing 
manual handling of parts during the production process and minimizing the risk of internal defects and 
cracks. 

Revenue from economic activity, financial activity and extraordinary activity 

Information on revenue on capitalisation of costs and on revenue from economic and financial activities  

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding accounting 

period 

 

Significant items on capitalization of 
costs, of which 

0 0  

Activation of machinery and equipment 0 0  

Other significant items of income 
from economic activities, of which: 

4 091  3 021 431  

Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets 
and materials 

3 860 748 2 821 633  

Compensation insurance company 79  66 255  

Revenue from the subsidy  113 351 113 351  

Other 37 148 20 192  

Financial income, of which: 385 736 19 640  

Exchange gains, of which: 294 668 17 738  

foreign exchange gains at the date of 
the financial statements 

294 668 17 336  

Other significant items of financial 
income, of which: 

91 068 402  

Interest 91 066 373  

Other 2 29  
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Cost 

Cost information 

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding accounting 

period 
 

Cost of services rendered, of which: 8 564 390 7 561 266  

Costs due to auditor, audit firm, of 
which: 

66 000 117 500  

the cost of auditing individual financial 
statements 

60 000 47 500  

other related services 6 000 70 000  

tax consultancy  2 708  

repairs and maintenance 407 339 1 019 480  

travel and representation 62 200 62 481  

Rent 350 439 439 980  

transport 220 394 471 667  

legal, economic and other consultancy 
services 

111 341 166 256  

personal leasing 51 759 239 669  

external machining of products - GPM 
Tools, s.r.o. 

1 454 663 998 565  

external processing of products 5 277 493 3 627 309  

software services 147 548 154 085  

mask manufacturing services 1 284 41 246  

Other 413 930 220 320  

Other significant items of expense 
from economic activity, of which: 

 136 479  

the residual value of lease contracts 
assigned 

0 0  

Insurance 133 965 130 981  

Other 11 689 5 498  

Financial costs, of which: 4 757 265 4 329 074  

Foreign exchange losses, of which: 454 696 486 807  

foreign exchange losses at the date of 
the financial statements 

414 258 449 000  

Other significant finance cost items, of 
which: 

4 302 569 3 842 267  

Other costs of financial activities 1 175 056 537 124  
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Carrying amount of securities and equity 
interests sold 

0 1 074 745  

interest cost 3 127 513 2 230 398  

Valuation allowances on financial assets 0 0  

 

Other related services provided by the audit firm in 2022 include performing agreed-upon procedures 
related to financial information in accordance with International Standard on Related Services ISRS 
4400.

Income taxes 

Information on income taxes 

Item name Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding 

accounting period 

Amount of deferred tax asset recognised as an 
expense or income resulting from a change in the 
income tax rate 

  

Amount of deferred tax liability recognised as an 
expense or income as a result of a change in the 
income tax rate 

  

The amount of deferred tax assets relating to the 
amortisation of tax losses, unused tax credits and 
other claims and temporary differences of prior 
accounting periods for which no deferred tax asset 
was recognised in prior accounting periods 

  

The amount of the deferred tax liability that arises 
from not recognising in the current accounting 
period that part of the deferred tax asset that was 
accounted for in previous accounting periods 

  

Amount of unused tax loss amortisation, unused tax 
credits and other entitlements and deductible 
temporary differences for which no deferred tax 
asset has been recognised 

  

Amount of deferred income tax relating to items 
charged directly to the equity accounts without being 
charged to the expense and income accounts 
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Information on income taxes  

Item name 
Current accounting period Immediately preceding accounting period 

 

Tax base Tax Tax in % Tax base Tax Tax in %  

Profit before tax, of 
which: 

 x x 3 372 159 x x  

theoretical tax  x  21% x 708 153 21%  

Costs not recognised 
for tax purposes 

   2 336 761 490 720 15%  

Non-taxable income    -4 373 803 -918 499 -27%  

Effect of an 
unrecognised 
deferred tax asset 

       

Amortisation of tax 
loss 

       

Changing the tax rate        

Other        

Total    1 335 117  280 375 8%  

Income tax payable x   x 280 375 8%  

Deferred income tax x   x 808 785 24%  

Total income tax  x   x 1 089 160 32%  

 

19. INFORMATION ON RELATED PARTIES 

Information about economic relationships between the entity and related parties 

Related person  
Code of the 
type of trade 

Value expression of trade 

Current accounting 
period 

Immediately preceding 
accounting period                                              

GPM Tools, s.r.o.    

Sales of own products (yield) 2 8 267 075 8 307 979 

Revenue from the sale of services (yield) 3 5 234 085 6 083 213 

Proceeds from the sale of intangible fixed assets 
and tangible fixed assets (income 

2 854 660 0 
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Proceeds from the sale of unwanted material 
(yield) 

2 95 116 27 754 

Purchase of fixed assets 1 11 760 462 12 308 954 

Purchase of stocks 1 2 101 904 1 209 083 

Procurement of services and other costs (expense) 1 1 555 223 1 993 698 

 GEVORKYAN CZ, s.r.o.    

Interest expense on borrowings (expense) 8 1 515 000 3 699 

Borrowing fees (expense) 8 0 268 900 

 
Information on receivables and payables with related parties 

Related person   

Value expression 

Current accounting period 
Immediately preceding 

accounting 
period                                              

GPM Tools, s.r.o.    

Trade receivables  10 638 970 10 712 726 

Trade payables  5 477 882 7 793 062 

GEVORKYAN CZ, s.r.o.    

Other liabilities  30 071 653 30 008 699 

 
The Company records trade receivables from related parties. The Company does not record other 
receivables 
The Company records trade payables and loan payables to related parties. 

20.  INFORMATION ON CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Equity item 

Current accounting period 

Situation at 
the beginning 

of the 
accounting 

period 

Additions Outflows Transfers 

Situation at 
the end of 

the 
accounting 

period 

Share capital 13 924 472 2 732 800   16 657 272 

Issue premium 0 24 694 735   24 694 735 

Other capital funds 11 307 079    11 307 079 

Legal reserve fund 842 327   228 300 1 070 627 

Retained earnings of previous years 8 540 841   2 054 698 10 595 541 

Unreimbursed loss of previous years 0    0 

Economic result for the current 
accounting period  

2 282 998   -2 282 998  
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Total 36 897 699  0 0 69 106 205 

 

Equity item 

Immediately preceding accounting period 

Situation at 
the beginning 

of the 
accounting 

period 

Additions Outflows Transfers 

Situation at 
the end of 

the 
accounting 

period 

Share capital 13 924 472    13 924 472 

Other capital funds 11 307 079    11 307 079 

Legal reserve fund 654 488   187 839 842 327 

Retained earnings of previous years 4 971 890   3 568 951 8 540 841 

Unreimbursed loss of previous years 0    0 

Economic result for the current 
accounting period 

3 756 790 2 282 998  -3 756 790 2 282 998 

Total 34 614 720 2 282 980 0 0 36 897 699 

 
The General Meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2022 approved the distribution of the 2021 
profit 
 
On 13 May 2022, the Company changed its legal form from the original limited liability company to the 
current joint stock company with a number of shares of 13,924,472 with a nominal value of 1 euro. On 
22 May 2022, the Company resolved to subscribe for 2,732,800 new shares with a nominal value of 1 
euro. In the month of June 2022, the Company listed on the PX Start market of the Prague Stock 
Exchange. As a result of the above transactions, the share capital was increased and a share premium 
was created in the amounts shown in the table above.   

21. OVERVIEW OF CASH FLOWS  

The cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect method. 

22. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS THAT OCCURRED AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS ARE PREPARED 

There have been no other events subsequent to December 31, 2022 that require disclosure or 
recognition in the 2022 financial statements. 
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Report of the independent auditor 

 
To the shareholders, the Supervisory Board and the Management Board of GEVORKYAN, a.s.: 

Recognitions from the financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of GEVORKYAN, Inc. (the Company"), which comprise the 
balance sheet as of December 31, , and the statement of income for the year then , and notes, which 
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and methods of accounting. 

In our , the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2022 and of its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance 
with Act No. 431/2002 Coll. Accounting Act, as amended (hereinafter referred to as the "Accounting Act"). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Regulation (EU) No 
537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16  2014 on specific requirements for statutory 
audit of public-interest entities (hereinafter referred to as "Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council"). Our responsibilities under these standards are set out in the paragraph 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the provisions of Act . 423/2015 on Statutory Audit and on Amendments to Act . 431/2002 
Coll. on Accounting, as amended (the "Statutory Audit Act") relating to ethics, including the Auditor's Code of 
Ethics, relevant to our audit of the financial statements, and we have complied with the other requirements of 
these provisions relating to ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained provides a sufficient and 
appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit matters 

Audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, are the most significant in our audit of the 
current period financial statements. We have considered these matters in connection with our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion on them, but we do not express an independent 
opinion on them. For each matter listed below, we provide a description of how we addressed the matter in our 
audit. 

We have complied with our responsibilities as set out in the auditor's responsibility for the audit of the financial 
statements paragraph of our report, including in relation to the  referred to above. Accordingly, our audit included 
procedures designed to enable us to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The 
results of our audit procedures, including those performed in addressing the matters referred to below, form the 
basis of our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 

Revenue Reporting 

Cost of own goods and merchandise does not include tax. Our audit procedures included an assessment 
of the value added. They are also informed by the Company's accounting policies for deductions 
(rebates, bonuses, discounts, credit notes and in the area of revenue recognition and assessment, 
etc.). Charges are accounted for at the date of compliance with the Accounting Act. We evaluated and 
tested the setup and effective functioning of key controls in the sales process 

 
 

 



 

 

 

 
 

 

Revenues amounting to 13,151 thousand euros 
are generated by the sale of products for further 
processing to so-called cooperators. This 
processing is necessary for the subsequent sale of 
products to third parties. 
The company transfers the risks and rewards of 
the products and recognises the revenue from 
their sale when they are transferred to the co-
operators. 
Revenue recognition ranks as a key audit matter 

because of the complexity of needs, 

comprehensive criteria for their recognition and 
assessed the importance of their value. 

 

We have carried out a sales analysis based on our 
knowledge of the industry, specifically for external 
customers and for sales to cooperators. 

For transactions close to the  date, we assessed 
whether the revenue was recognised in the correct 
accounting period. We selected a sample of sales 
that included invoices of significant value issued 
close to the reporting date. 

                                                                                 We compliance of these sales 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Rectification item to assessable rights 
 
As at 31 December 2022, the residual carrying 
amount of the valuation rights in powder 
metallurgy and metal injection moulding was EUR 
11,061 thousand. 

The Company's accounting method for assessing 
potential impairment of appraisal rights is to 
annually assess the existence of indicators of 
impairment based on an updated sales forecast. If 
indicators are identified impairment 
indicators are identified, the Company prepares a 
valuation allowance for the valuation rights. 

 
 
 

 
The valuation allowance is a series of audit 
matters due to the complexity   of the calculation, 
significant     judgment 

contracts or other supporting documents submitted 
to show when the obligations of the parties to the 
transaction have been fulfilled. 

 
We also assessed, on a sample of significant credit 
notes issued after the  date, whether they were 
recognised in the correct accounting period. 

Obtained confirmations from selected customers as of 
December 31, and reconciled the values to the 
Company's accounting records. 

We also assessed the adequacy of the Company's 
disclosures in relation to the accounting policies relating 
to  recognition set out in paragraph 3.1) Revenue in the 
notes to the financial statements and whether they comply 
with the Accounting Act. 

 
 

 
Our audit procedures included assessing the 
appropriateness of the Company's accounting 
policies in  to valuation rights and assessing 
compliance with the Accounting Act. 

During our audit of the financial statements, we 
received an updated sales forecast for the Company 
and considered whether there are indicators 
of impairment of valuation rights. 

 
In our audit procedures, we used the work of our 
valuation experts to support our assessment of the 
assumptions and methods of the model that 
calculates the value of the valuation rights. In 
addition, we reviewed the expected growth rates 
and related expected future cash flows. 

 
We also assessed the adequacy of the Company's 
disclosures in relation to the accounting policies relating to 
the valuation of 



 

 

 

 
 

 

management in determining the expected 
revenue, and discount factor and the dependence 
on future  development. 

Compliance with debt covenants 

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of 
the debt (bonds and loans) for which the Company 
has to redeem the covenants was EUR 26,362 
thousand. 

Long-term loans, short-term loans and bonds are 
reported at nominal value. The portions of long-
term loans and bonds that mature within one year 
of 

set out in paragraph 3.a) Debts intangible assets 
of the notes to the financial statements and 
whether they comply  the Accounting Act. 

 

 
Our audit procedures included an assessment of the 
appropriateness of the Company's accounting 
policies related long-term borrowings, short-term 
borrowings and bonds and an assessment of 
compliance with the Accounting Act. 

We retrieved from banks as of December 
31, 2022 and reconciled the values with companys 
accounting reci 

the date of the financial statements as well as the   
current loan/ and debentures, which 
the company does not meet the covenants at the 

balance sheet date 
Conclusions. 

 
Due to the significance of the outstanding balance 
of bonds and bank loans for which the Company 
must meet covenants, we consider this to be a 
specific audit matter. 

We reviewed the loan agreements and the terms 
and conditions of the Notes to assess whether all 
covenants were considered in assessing the 
Company's compliance with the debt covenants. 

 
We have reviewed and assessed compliance with 
the debt covenants at the date of the financial 
statements. 

 
We have also assessed the adequacy of the 
Company's disclosures in relation to the 
accounting policies relating to long-term borrowings, 
short-term borrowings and debentures set out Note 
.g) Commitments in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements, whether they comply with the 
Accounting Act and the adequacy of the Company's 
disclosures in respect of compliance with debt 
covenants as set out in Note 14 Bank loans and 
financial assistance. 

 
Responsibility of the statutory body and the persons charged with governance for the financial statements 

The statutory body is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements so that they give a true 
and fair view in accordance with Act No. 431/2002 Coll. on accounting and for such internal control as it 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the statutory body is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 
continue as  going , for describing the going concern basis of accounting, if applicable, and for using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it intends to liquidate the Company or to discontinue its operations or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
Auditor's responsibility for the audit of the financial statements 

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report, including an opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit performed in accordance 
with the ISAs and Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council will always detect 
material misstatements, if any. Misstatements may arise from fraud or error and are considered material if they 
could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to affect the economic decisions of users 
made on the  of these financial statements. 

 
As part of an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs and Regulation (EC) No 537/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. In : 

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures to address those risks, and obtain audit evidence  
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of non-detection of a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than that due error fraud may involve collusion, forgery, deliberate 
omission, misstatement or circumvention of internal control. 

• We consider internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal controls. 

• We assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies and methods used and the 
reasonableness of the accounting estimates and related made by the statutory body. 

• We conclude whether the statutory body appropriately applies the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, conclude whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going 
. If we  that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw the auditor's attention in our report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if those disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or circumstances may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

• We assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
information presented therein, and whether the financial statements reflect the transactions and events that 
occurred in a manner that gives a true and fair view. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance about, among other things, the planned   scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant internal control deficiencies we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide a statement to those charged with governance that we have complied with the relevant 
independence requirements and communicate with them about any patterns or other matters that may 
reasonably be believed to have an impact on our independence, as well as any steps taken to address related 
threats or applied. 

Of the matters communicated to the persons charged with governance, let us identify those that were most 
significant in the audit of the current period financial statements and are therefore audit . We describe these 
matters in our auditor's report unless a law or regulation precludes disclosure or, in extremely rare cases, we decide 
that a matter should not be included in our report because the adverse consequences of its disclosure might 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public benefit of its disclosure. 



 

 

 

 
 

 

Report on other requirements of laws and other legal regulations 

Report on the information given in the annual report 

The statutory body is responsible for the information contained in the annual report prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Accounting Act. Our opinion on the financial statements set out above does not extend to 
other information in the annual report. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the information in the 
annual report and assess whether that information is materially inconsistent with the audited financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of our audit of the financial statements or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

We have assessed whether the Company's annual report includes the information required by the 
Accounting Act to be disclosed. 

Based on the work performed during the audit of the financial statements, in our : 

- the information presented in the 2022 Annual Report is consistent with the financial statements for that 
year, 

- the annual report contains information under the Accounting Act. 

In , based on our knowledge of the entity and its situation obtained in the course of our audit of the financial 
statements, we are required to state whether we identified any material misstatements in the annual report 
that we received before the date of this auditor's report. There are no findings in that regard that we are required to 
report. 

 
Report on the independent verification of compliance of the presentation of the financial statements with the 
requirements of the European Single Electronic Reporting Format (hereinafter referred to as 'ESEF') 

We have been engaged by the Company to perform an engagement to provide reasonable assurance on the 
conformity of the Company's financial statement presentation for the year ended 31 December , which forms 
part of the annual financial report (the Financial Statements Presentation"), with the requirements of 
Commission Delegated Regulation (EÙ) No. 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 Directive (EU) No 2004/109/EC of 
the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to regulatory technical standards on the specification 
of a single electronic reporting format ( "ESEF Regulation"). 

Description of the subject of the contract and identification of the criteria 

The Statutory Body has applied the Presentation of Financial Statements to comply with the requirements of the ESEF 
Regulation. The relevant requirements relating to the Presentation of Financial Statements are contained in the 
ESEF Regulation. 

In our opinion, the requirements for the Presentation of Financial Statements set out in the preceding paragraph are 
appropriate criteria for drawing a conclusion with reasonable assurance. 

Responsibilities of the statutory body and persons entrusted with the management 
 

The Statutory Body is responsible for the Presentation of the Financial Statements which complies with the 
requirements of the ESEF Regulation. This responsibility includes: 

• the preparation of financial statements in XHTML format; and 
• design, implement and maintain internal controls relevant to the Presentation of Financial Statements that 

are free from material non-compliance with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process, 
including the preparation of financial statements that also comply with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. 



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
Auditor's responsibilities 

 
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion, with reasonable assurance, as to whether the Presentation of the 
financial statements complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. 

 
We conducted the engagement providing reasonable assurance in accordance with International Standard 
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), 'Engagements for Assurance Services Other Than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information' (ISAE 3000(R)), issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (IAASB'). In accordance with this standard, we are required to comply with relevant ethical requirements 
and plan and perform procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Presentation of Financial 
Statements complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of the ESEF Regulation. 

 
The nature, timing and extent of the procedures performed depend on the auditor's judgement. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that a service performed in accordance with 
ISAE 3000(R) will always detect a material nonconformity. 

Quality control and auditor independence requirements 

We apply the provisions of International Standard on Quality Control 1 (issued by the IAASB) and therefore 
maintain a comprehensive quality control system, including documented policies and procedures that 
compliance with ethical and professional standards,  well as related legal and regulatory requirements. 

 
We comply with the independence and other ethical requirements of the International Code of Ethics for 
Accounting Professionals (including the International Independence Standards) issued by the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants. This Code is based on the fundamental principles of integrity, 
objectivity, competence and due care, confidentiality and professional conduct. 

Overview of the procedures performed 

Our planned and performed procedures were designed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
Presentation of Financial Statements complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of the ESEF 
Regulation. In particular, our procedures included: 

• familiarisation with the internal control system and processes relevant to the use of an electronic 
format for reporting financial statements, including the preparation of the XHTML format; and 

• verify that the XHTML format has been used correctly. 

We are satisfied that the evidence we have obtained provides a sufficient and appropriate basis for the expression 
of our belief. 

 

Conclusion 

 
In our , based on the procedures performed by us, the Presentation of the financial statements complies in all 
material respects with the requirements of the ESEF Regulations. 

 
Other requirements for the content of the auditor's report under Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council 

Appointment of the auditor 

Statutory We were appointed by the General Meeting of the Company on 
30 December 2022 . The total uninterrupted period of our engagement, including previous renewals of our 
engagement (in excess of the period for which we were originally appointed) and our reappointments as statutory 
auditors, is 7 years. 



 

 

 

 
 
 

 
Consistency with the additional report to the Supervisory Board 

Our auditor's opinion on the financial statements expressed in this report is consistent with the additional report 
to the Company's Supervisory Board, which we issued on the same day as the date of this report. 

 
Non-audit services 

The prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council were not provided and we remained independent of the Company in the 
performance of the audit. 

Other than the statutory audit services and the services disclosed in the financial statements, we have not provided  
services to the Company. 

 
28 April 2023 
Bratislava, Slovak Republic 

Ernst & Young Slovakia, spol. s r.o. SKAU 
Licence No. 257 

 
 
 
 

 
Ing. Tomáš Pčeček, statutory auditor 
UDVA Licence No. 1067 
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